Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-5-2017

Savage v. Scandit Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45143

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This case is about applying the express language of the Idaho Wage Claim Act ("IWCA") to an employment contract to figure out when a commission and an achievement bonus are due. This case is about protecting the promise made and bargain that was presented to, and relied and acted upon, by the employee, but reneged on by the employer.

The District Court's reasoning in dismissing Plaintiff/Appellant's claim is rooted in a notion that a potential to later recoup or claw back some of the money that the employment contract says is owing somehow prevents an ascertainable sum due from being deemed "wages." The fundamental error in this thinking is that the IWCA does provide freedom of the parties to contract when non-traditional wages like commissions and bonuses will be "due." But simply because an employment contract uses the word "earned" in a way to potentially claw back part of a commission that has already been paid does not change the nature of a promise to pay the employee 100% of the commission at an earlier date. The IWCA expressly requires payment of wages due when the same are "due," without regard to any later right that may arise to claw back or recoupment.

With respect to the commission, the specific employment contract in this case provided that "100% of the respective commission will be paid [when the sale was booked]," and with respect to the bonus, that "Employee will earn a bonus of USD 36,000 if the combined Annual Contract Value of renewals and Orders equals CHF [Swiss franc] 641,001 or more." Of course, those promises motivated Plaintiff/Appellant Karen L. Savage to work hard to secure a multi-

million dollar sale to Amazon for her employer and get it booked during 2016. She finally received an email from her employer's CEO over a month after the Amazon contract was signed, acknowledging a commission amount of \$390,234 and an Annual Quota Achievement Bonus amount of an additional \$36,000 and "suggesting how to handle your commission from securing Amazon deal." The suggestion was not that 100% of the commission would be paid despite the fact that all revenue had already been booked. The suggestion was instead to engage in a plan to distribute CHF 30,000 of her commission amount to other employees (unauthorized by Savage) and to pay the rest of her commission out annually in installments over four years (with an implied threat that "normally" the employer would pay the commission out over five years and only after they had received payments from Amazon). At the next payday, the employer graced Savage with a \$5,000 "symbolic" payment. Understandably, Savage filed a wage claim suit immediately thereafter. Not surprisingly, the filing of that suit yielded payment of the full commission amount and the bonus.

One irony of this case is that the employer in this instance had every ability to craft language that followed Idaho's wage claim law and instead neglected to call the alleged early payment of the commission at issue a discretionary "advance," but instead indicated that 100% of the respective commission was due upon booking. Another irony is that the employer bases its entire argument for the commission not being due upon booking upon other language in the contract that says the commission is not "earned" until all payments are received, but then changes its tune when the word "earned" is used to describe the point at which the "annual quota

¹ R. 26 and 61.

achievement bonus" becomes due based on a threshold amount of sales being reached during the annual term of the contract. The District Court erred by dismissing the Complaint without allowing the wage claim to proceed forward to discovery and ultimately to a jury.

B. Course of Proceedings.

The Verified Complaint for Collection of a Wage Claim Under Idaho Code § 45-601 and Demand for Jury Trial in this matter on behalf of Appellant was filed on November 1, 2016, in Valley County, Idaho.² That Complaint included three counts: (1) a wage claim under Idaho Code § 45-615; (2) for declaratory judgment; and (3) a contract claim for commission due.³ The Answer to Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial was filed on December 13, 2016.⁴ A Motion to Dismiss Wage Claim was filed on December 13, 2016.⁵ A Motion for Leave to File First Amended Verified Complaint was filed on January 24, 2017.⁶ After oral argument on February 6, 2017, the District Court, Judge Jason D. Scott, issued its Memorandum Decision and Order ("Order") Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Amend on February 16, 2017.⁷ A Stipulation Regarding Final Judgment was executed on March 15, 2017, wherein Counts 2 and 3 were withdrawn so that an immediate appeal could be filed.⁸ A Preliminary Order on Stipulation re Final Judgment was entered on March 28, 2017.⁹

² R. 4-13.

³ R. 8-12.

⁴ R. 34-43.

⁵ R. 44-46.

⁶ R. 94-102.

⁷ R. 137-157.

⁸ R. 152-155.

⁹ R. 156-157.

A Supplemental Stipulation re Final Judgment was executed on April 11, 2017.¹⁰ Judgment was entered dismissing Plaintiff Karen L. Savage's Complaint with prejudice on April 17, 2017.¹¹ Notice of appeal was timely filed on May 26, 2017.¹²

C. Statement of the Facts.

Scandit is an enterprise mobility and data capture company that specializes in bar code scanning applications for businesses in fields that include healthcare, logistics, manufacturing, and retail industries. Scandit's services and products allow customers to rapidly build, deploy, and manage mobile apps for smart phones, tablets, and wearable devices, all for a lower total cost of ownership than traditional dedicated devices.¹³

Approximately two years ago, Savage began working for Scandit as a Senior Sales Executive. 14 For the year 2016, and specifically for the time period from January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2016, Scandit provided to Savage as part of her employment agreement a 2016 Commission Compensation Plan (the "CCP"). 15 Under the CCP, Savage was entitled to be paid a salary, plus commissions on new business, plus commissions on renewals of customer contracts, and she also had the potential for bonuses. 16 Specifically, under the CCP, Scandit had promised to Savage that:

¹⁰ R. 158-160.

¹⁴ R. 5.

¹¹ R. 161-162.

¹² R. 163-167.

¹³ R. 5.

¹⁵ R. 5. See also R. 16-24.

¹⁶ R. 5-6. See also R. 16024.

IV. COMMISSIONS

Commission shall become earned (i.e., not subject to recoupment or "claw-back" by Employer) only upon (a) recognition of revenue by Scandit according to its then current revenue recognition policies; and (b) actual receipt of payment from the customer.

Therefore, should one or both of these conditions fail to occur, the paid but unearned commissions must be returned to Scandit by Employee per Section V below. . . .

100% of the respective commission will paid as soon as reasonably practicable following the booking of the Order, and ideally no later than within 30 days of the end of the month during which the transaction has been booked.

* * *

1. Scandit License Fee . . .

Scandit will pay commissions based on the amount of Scandit licenses sold (net amount to Scandit) to new and existing customers for each Order booked during the period of this Plan.¹⁷

The CCP also provides for an "Annual Quota Achievement Bonus" that states in its entirety, "Employee will earn a bonus of USD [\$]36,000.00 if the combined ACV [Annual Cash Value] of renewals and Orders equals CHF 641,001" (the "Achievement Bonus"). ¹⁸

During that year, through Savage's efforts, a Master Software License Agreement was signed effective as of September 27, 2016, between Amazon Services LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, and Scandit Inc. (the "Amazon Agreement"). ¹⁹ The Amazon Agreement was

¹⁷ R. 5-6. See also R. 18.

¹⁸ R. 6 and R. 18.

¹⁹ R. 6.

booked during late September 2016.²⁰ During late September 2016 or October 2016, 100% of

the respective commission from the Amazon Agreement became due and owing to Savage under

the CCP based on the booking of the Amazon Agreement by Scandit (the "Amazon

Commission").²¹

Savage performed all conditions precedent to the Amazon Commission becoming due

and owing to her under the CCP and applicable law.²² For several weeks after the Amazon

Commission was booked, Savage received no word as to when the Amazon Commission, which

was due and owing, would be paid or what the amount of said commission would be.²³

On October 28, 2016, Scandit's CEO, Samuel Mueller, at 11:41:39 AM MDT, sent an

email to Savage regarding the commission.²⁴ In the email, Mueller acknowledged the total

amount of the commission to be \$390,234. However, Mueller proposed taking \$30,000 of the

commission and distributing it to "involved members engineering/ops team, to be paid at end of

the year as a special bonus and independent from" Savage's Amazon Commission payment.²⁵

Contrary to Mueller's implication in the email, taking \$30,000 of her commission away and

distributing it in this manner was without authorization from Savage. ²⁶

As to the remaining \$360,234 of the Amazon Commission due, Mueller announced a

plan to pay that amount to Savage over four years because of "the size and long duration of the

²⁰ R. 6 and 61.

²¹ R. 6.

²² R. 7.

²³ R. 7.

²⁴ R. 7 and R. 26-28.

²⁵ R. 7 and R. 26.

²⁶ R. 7 and R. 26.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT SAVAGE - 6

[Amazon] deal, from and [sic, "an"] accounting and liquidity management perspective we have to expect considerable risk that Amazon might find a way to not pay one of the (annual) fees and back out of the contract at a later time, in which case we would have to reverse any previous commission payment and claw back previously paid commission."²⁷

On October 31, 2016, on the regular payday, nothing near "100% of the respective commission" promised by the CCP was paid and; instead; only a mere \$5,000 described as "AMAZON (Symbolic 1st payment)" was made to Savage with respect to the Amazon Commission.²⁸

Understandably, Savage sought counsel and filed a wage claim lawsuit on November 1, 2016.²⁹ The Wage Claim Count stated, in part:

- 29. The Commission Due and Achievement Bonus Due constitute a wage pursuant to Idaho Code § 45-601(7), in that they were "compensation for labor or services rendered by an employee on a time, task, piece or commission basis" (hereinafter collectively "Wages Due").
 - 30. The Wages Due were not paid on the date they were due in that either
 - a. they were not paid within 15 days of September 30, 2016, which was the end of the pay period for which such wages were due, as required by Idaho Code § 45-608(2); or
 - b. they were not paid within 30 days of the last day of the month in which the order had been booked as had been the case with prior commission payments under the CCP and the pattern and practice and course of performance between Scandit and Savage.

²⁹ R. 4.

²⁷ R. 7 and R. 26.

²⁸ R. 7.

31. Scandit's failure to pay the Wages Due when the same were due constituted a violation of Idaho law and of the parties' CCP.

In late November 2016, after that lawsuit was filed – and apparently in response to that filing – Scandit paid the full amount of the commission, clearly fearful of the consequences of not paying "wages" when due.³⁰

On January 23, 2017, Savage filed a Motion to Amend, seeking leave to file an Amended Complaint that, in part, included a substantially revised paragraph 17³¹ to the effect that:

Savage performed all conditions precedent to the Amazon Commission becoming due and owing to her under the CCP and applicable law and all such applicable conditions precedent have occurred or were performed or were satisfied, either

- a. By in fact occurring, being performed or being satisfied; or
- b. Alternatively, by said conditions precedent being waived or excused by Scandit by means of (i) conversations between Savage and the Scandit Vice President of Sales during the months of September and October 2016 wherein he stated words to the effect that Savage had fulfilled all obligations to earn the Amazon Commission and that the Amazon Commission was due and would be paid, and/or by (ii) statements by Scandit's chief executive officer Samuel Mueller to Savage including, without limitation, statements in said email that Mueller was making a "suggestion on how to handle your commission from securing the Amazon deal," a calculation of the "commission amount" and otherwise discussing the impact of the "commissions from this awesome deal" with her as if they were due and owing, and Savage reasonably relied upon such statements to her detriment; or
- c. Alternatively, by operation of the doctrine of equitable estoppel, in that the statements described previously in this paragraph constituted misrepresentations that Savage reasonably relied upon to her detriment; or

³⁰ R. 141.

³¹ This paragraph 17 was modifying paragraph 19 of the original Complaint, but all of the prior paragraphs of the Amended Complaint and the original Complaint were the same. R. 7 and R. 98–99. This was because in the original Complaint, there was a mistake in numbering of paragraphs such that the numbering skipped from paragraph 10 to 13. R. 5-6.

d. Alternatively, by operation of the doctrine of quasi estoppel, in that Scandit by means of such statements described previously in this paragraph, gained some advantage for itself or produced some disadvantage to Savage or induced Savage to change her position, and it would be unconscionable to allow Scandit to maintain that the condition precedents were not satisfied.

R. 98-99. A similar change to paragraph 30 under Count 1 to add these theories was sought in the amendment by adding in new paragraphs 30 c. and d. as follows:

30. The Wages Due were not paid on the date they were due in that either:

* * *

- c. they were not paid as required by Idaho Code § 45-608(2) or the time set forth under the CCP after they became due, said amounts becoming due at that point in time because of an intentional or an express or an implied waiver of any and all conditions precedent to said payments becoming due at that time had occurred on the part of Scandit; or
- d. they were not paid as required by Idaho Code § 45-608(2) or the time set forth under the CCP after they became due, said amounts becoming due at that point in time because of the operation of equitable estoppel or quasi estoppel.

The District Court determined to grant the Motion to Dismiss and deny the Motion to Amend. This Appeal followed.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the District Court Erred in Holding as a Matter of Law that a Commission Subject to a Condition Subsequent is Not "Wages Due" Under the Idaho Wage Claim Act § 45-601, et seq.;
- B. Whether the District Court Erred in Ignoring the Plain Language of the Idaho Wage Claim Act that Requires Payment of Wages When "Due" and Instead Improperly Imposing a Reading of the Word "Earned" Based on the Parties' Contract to Hold that a Commission Payment Was Not Due;

- C. Whether the District Court Erred in Determining that the Payment Due to Savage was in the Nature of an Advance and Therefore Not Wages;
- D. Whether the District Court Erred in Determining that a Contractual Definition of "Earned" Made an Ascertainable and Owing Commission Subject to Clawback or Recoupment Right and Somehow Prevented that Commission from Otherwise Being "Due" Under the Idaho Wage Claim Act and the Parties' Contract;
- E. Whether the District Court Erred in Applying Reasoning From Wage Cases Involving Compensation Earned in Increments as Services are Performed to a Wage in the Form of a Commission Which in Fact Became Due at the Time Specified in the Parties' Contract;
- F. Whether the District Court Erred in Determining that an Annual Achievement Bonus Could, Under no Set of Facts, be "Due" under the Idaho Wage Claim Act § 45-601, et seq., in the Month that it was "Earned," but Instead Must, as a Matter of Law, Only be Due at the End of the Calendar Year;
- G. Whether the District Court Erred in Not Granting Leave to Amend;
- H. Whether the District Court Erred in Considering Issues Not Raised in the Briefs or in Oral Argument in Ruling on a Motion to Dismiss; and
- I. Whether Plaintiff/Appellant is entitled to Costs and Attorneys' Fees Under Idaho Code § 45-615(2).

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard on Review.

1. Motion to Dismiss Standard

An order dismissing a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure ("I.R.C.P.") is reviewed *de novo*. *ABC Agra, LLC v. Critical Access Grp, Inc.*, 156 Idaho 781, 783, 331 P.3d 523, 525 (2014). The Supreme Court applies the same standard it applies when reviewing a motion for summary judgment, but treats the factual allegations of the complaint as true on their face. *Hammer v. Ribi*, 401 P.3d 148, 151 (Idaho 2017) (citing *Losser v.*

Bradstreet, 145 Idaho 670, 672–73, 183 P.3d 758, 760–61 (2008)); ABC Agra, LLC, 156 Idaho at 783, 331 P.3d at 524. The Court views all facts and inferences in favor of the non-moving party. Id.; Young v. City of Ketchum, 137 Idaho 102, 104, 44 P.3d 1157, 1159 (2002) (citing Orthman v. Idaho Power Co., 126 Idaho 960, 961, 895 P.2d 561, 562 (1995); Miles v. Idaho Power Co., 116 Idaho 635, 637, 778 P.2d 757, 759 (1989)). However, "[a] 12(b)(6) motion looks only at the pleadings to determine whether a claim for relief has been stated," and the Supreme Court "determines whether the non-movant has alleged sufficient facts in support of his claim, which if true, would entitle him to relief." Hammer, 401 P.3d at 151 (quoting Young, 137 Idaho at 104, 44 P.3d at 1159; Idaho Wool Growers Ass'n, Inc. v. State, 154 Idaho 716, 720, 302 P.3d 341, 345 (2012)). 32 After drawing all inferences in the non-moving party's favor, the Court asks whether a claim for relief has been stated under Idaho law. Id. "The issue is not whether the plaintiff will ultimately prevail, but whether the party is entitled to offer evidence to support the claims." Id. (citations and internal quotations omitted). The interpretation of an unambiguous contract or statute is a question of law subject to free review. *Idaho Wool Growers Ass'n, Inc. v.* State, 154 Idaho 716, 720, 302 P.3d 341, 345 (2012) (citing Bakker v. Thunder Spring-Wareham, LLC, 141 Idaho 185, 190, 108 P.3d 332, 337 (2005); Kimbrough v. Idaho Bd. of Tax Appeals, 150 Idaho 417, 420, 247 P.3d 644, 647 (2011)). The Court should reverse the District Court decision if reasonable persons could reach differing conclusions or draw conflicting inferences from the factual assertions in the Complaint. Cf. Bakker v. Thunder Spring-Wareham,

³² It is noteworthy that the moving papers by Defendant Scandit on the Motion to Dismiss did not seek to convert this Motion to a summary judgment under Rule 12(d), and Scandit, in its briefing, confirmed that Savage as "the non-movant is entitled to have h[er] factual assertions treated as true " R. 7.

LLC, 141 Idaho 185, 189, 108 P.3d 332, 336 (2005) (explaining the standard applicable to reviewing a motion for summary judgment).

2. Motion to Amend Standard

As to the standard of review for a denial of a motion to amend under I.R.C.P. 15(a)(2), this Court has stated:

After a responsive pleading has been filed a party may amend a pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the other party. I.R.C.P. 15(a). "[L]eave shall be freely given when justice so requires." *Id.* "The denial of a plaintiff's motion to amend a complaint to add another cause of action is governed by an abuse of discretion standard of review." *Thomas v. Medical Center Physicians, P.A.*, 138 Idaho 200, 210, 61 P.3d 557, 567 (2002). The test for determining whether the district court abused its discretion is: (1) whether the court correctly perceived that the issue was one of discretion; (2) whether the court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Id.*

A court may consider whether the allegations sought to be added to the complaint state a valid claim in determining whether to grant leave to amend the complaint. *Id.* (citing *Black Canyon Racquetball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat'l Bank N.A.*, 119 Idaho 171, 804 P.2d 900 (1991)). A court, however, may not consider the sufficiency of evidence supporting the claim sought to be added in determining leave to amend because that is more properly determined at the summary judgment stage. *Thomas*, 138 Idaho at 210, 61 P.3d at 567 (citing *Christensen Family Trust v. Christensen*, 133 Idaho 866, 993 P.2d 1197 (1999)).

Estate of Becker v. Callahan, 140 Idaho 522, 527-28, 96 P.3d 623, 628-29 (2004).

B. Viewing the Facts and Inferences in Favor of Savage as the Same Were Pled, the Amazon Commission was not an "Advance," but Constituted Wages Due and Owing Under Idaho Code § 45-608.

1. A commission subject to a condition subsequent is still wages due for purposes of a wage claim; if the commission amount is ascertainable and due under the parties' agreement, it is indeed "wages due" under Idaho Code § 45-608.

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