Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-1-2017

Savage v. Scandit Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45143

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Dismissed Savage's Wage Claim

The District Court correctly dismissed Savage's claim for unpaid wages under the Wage Claim Act for failure to state a claim because, at the time Savage filed her Complaint, she had

not yet "earned" the disputed wages and they therefore were not "wages" due under the Wage Claim Act.

1. The Wage Claim Act Applies Only to Claims for "Wages"

The Wage Claim Act gives special "preferred" status to "wages" earned by employees. For example, wage claims receive a preference in insolvency proceedings such that they will be paid by insolvency trustees prior to other claims. *See* Idaho Code § 45-602. The Wage Claim Act also gives preferred status to wage claims in matters of execution and attachment. *Id.* at § 45-605. Similarly, the Wage Claim Act prohibits employers from withholding wages from a paycheck without an employee's written authorization. *Id.* at § 45-609.

Although wage claims generally arise out of a contract, wage claims also receive special preference in terms of available remedies. As opposed to the actual and/or consequential damages that are the remedy for a breach of contract claim, a successful claim for unpaid wages can potentially result in either statutory penalties (I.C. § 45-607) or treble damages. *Id.* at § 45-615 (providing for "damages in the amount of three (3) times the unpaid wages found due and owing").

These special preferences do not apply to every claim brought by an employee against an employer. For example, a breach of contract claim brought by an employee for something other than wages does not fall within the Wage Claim Act. *See, e.g., Whitlock v. Haney Seed Co.*, 114 Idaho 628, 635 (Ct. App. 1988) (a claim for the cash value of a life insurance policy payable upon death or retirement does not fall within the Wage Claim Act because it is not a claim for wages earned by the employee). Accordingly, the first question in any claim brought under the

Wage Claim Act is whether the claim is for "wages." If not, the Wage Claim Act and its special remedies and preferences do not apply. *Id.*

2. Compensation Must be "Earned" Before it is a "Wage"

Idaho Code Section 45-601(7) defines "wages" as "compensation for labor or services rendered by an employee, whether the amount is determined on a time, task, piece or commission basis." In interpreting that definition, the Idaho Supreme Court has consistently held that all forms of compensation must be "earned" before they become "wages" for purposes of the Wage Claim Act. *See Bilow v. Preco, Inc.*, 132 Idaho 23, 29 (1998) ("Wages, as defined by *Whitlock*, constitute 'compensation earned in increments as services are performed."") (emphasis added). Thus, a claim for compensation that has not yet been earned, but rather may be earned in the future, is not a claim for "wages" under the Wage Claim Act. *See Moore v. Omnicare, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 809, 819–20 (2005) (explaining that "claims for future wages do not fall within the purview of the [Wage Claim Act]").

3. Employers may Define by Contract when Commissions Become Earned

The question of when a commission becomes "earned" such that it is a "wage" under the Wage Claim Act is determined by contract. In *Bakker v. Thunder Spring-Wareham, LLC*, 141 Idaho 185 (2005), the Idaho Supreme Court held that an employer is free to contractually define when a commission is "earned" for purposes of the Wage Claim Act. In *Bakker*, an employee who sold resort property units signed a commission agreement providing that sales commissions would be earned only upon successful closing of escrow on units sold while the employee remained employed by the employer. *Id.* at 188. After termination of her employment, the employee filed a complaint under the Wage Claim Act, asserting a claim for commissions

allegedly due for the sale of units on which the employee started the sales process, but that did not close escrow until after her employment had been terminated. *Id*.

The employee in *Bakker* attempted to rely on the common law rule that "a broker earned a commission when he procured a buyer 'ready, willing and able' to purchase property according to the seller's terms." *Id.* at 190. The Idaho Supreme Court rejected that argument, holding that it was the parties' agreement – and not common law – that controlled when a commission became "earned," and thus a "wage," under the Wage Claim Act. *Id.* Specifically, the Court held that employers are free to "contract for the terms of compensation regarding when wages are earned and/or due." *Id.* Because under the terms of the commission agreement the employee in *Bakker* had not "earned" a commission at the time her employment was terminated, the employee had no claim for unpaid wages under the Wage Claim Act. *Id.*

4. Under the CCP, Commissions are not "Earned" until Payment is Received

As authorized by *Bakker*, the CCP defines exactly when commissions are "earned" and thereby become wages under the Wage Claim Act. Specifically, the CCP provides that "Commissions shall become **earned** (i.e., not subject to recoupment or 'claw-back' by [Scandit]) only upon ... actual receipt of payment from the customer." R. 18 at § IV (bold in original, underscoring added).

Savage's commission-based wage claim is based on the erroneous assumption that she earned a commission on the Amazon Order at the time Scandit and Amazon entered into the Amazon Agreement and the deal was "booked." R. 6 at ¶¶ 16-18. That assertion is contrary to the express terms of the CCP, which provides that Commissions are "earned" only upon receipt of payment from the customer. Amazon had not made any payment to Scandit at the time

Savage filed her Complaint. Thus, just like the employee in *Bakker*, Savage cannot state a wage claim under the Wage Claim Act because, at the time she filed her Complaint, she had not "earned" any commission under the clear terms of the CCP. Because Scandit had not been paid by Amazon, no commission had become "earned" and the amount claimed by Scandit was not a "wage" due under the Wage Claim Act. *See Bakker*, 141 Idaho at 190–91(holding that Plaintiff had not "earned" her commission under the plain language of her contract and therefore had no "unpaid wages" and thus no claim under the Wage Claim Act).

5. Pre-paid Commissions are Not Wages

The fact that the CCP provides for prepayment of **unearned** commissions does not change this result. The CCP makes clear that any commissions "prepaid" after an order has been booked but before payment has been received by the customer are not yet "earned," but rather are "prepaid but **unearned** commission." R. 18 at § IV (emphasis added). To this end, the CCP expressly states that (i) "paid but unearned commissions must be returned to Scandit," and "in the event Scandit does not recognize the revenue on an Order...or does not receive payment from the customer per the terms of the Order, any prepaid commissions will be reversed." *Id.* at ¶¶ IV, V. The CCP at all times distinguishes between when Scandit will pre-pay (i.e., advance) commission payments and when such commission payments in fact become earned. This distinction is critical and precludes a finding that prepaid commissions are "wages" due.

In fact, courts around the country have recognized that advances are not "wages" under similar state wage acts. For example, the California Court of Appeals has explained:

The essence of an advance is that at the time of payment the employer cannot determine whether the commission will eventually be earned because a condition to the employee's right to the commission has yet to occur or its occurrence as yet is

otherwise unascertainable. An advance, therefore, by definition is not a wage because all conditions for performance have not been satisfied.

Steinhebel v. Los Angeles Times Commc'ns, 126 Cal. App. 4th 696, 704-06 (2005); see also Gress v. Fabcon, Inc., 826 N.E.2d 1, 2 (Ind. Ct. App. 2005) (commission payments in the form of "unearned advance payment for jobs shipped but not completed" do not constitute "wages" because the commission payments have not yet been earned); Morangelli v. Chemed Corp., 922 F. Supp. 2d 278, 293-297 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (dismissing a nine-state class action lawsuit because, under the law of all nine states, "advances" are not "wages" and no wage claim can exist until commissions have been "earned" as defined in a compensation agreement).

Savage argues that cases from California are distinguishable because the California wage statute includes the term "earned" in its definition of wages. That argument ignores the fact that the Idaho Supreme Court has repeatedly and consistently held that compensation must be "earned" before it is a wage. Moreover, the Idaho Wage Claim Act expressly recognizes the distinction between wages that have been earned and an "advance of wages" that have not yet been earned, permitting employers to advance unearned wages. Idaho Code Section 45-608, in the sentence immediately following that under which Savage brings her claim, provides that employers may deposit "wages due or to become due or an advance of wages to be earned" in an employee's bank account. *Id.* (emphasis added). Idaho law therefore explicitly recognizes that advances are not wages. The CCP ultimately does precisely what Idaho Code Section 45-608 authorizes – it provides for an advance of wages that have not yet been earned.

Savage next attempts to distinguish these authorities by arguing that the CCP does not expressly use the term "advance." That argument, however, puts form over substance and

ignores the clear terms of the CCP, which uses the unambiguous phrase "prepaid but unearned commission," which is synonymous with an advance. *See, e.g.*, Webster's Third New International Dictionary (defining "prepay" as "to pay in advance"); Dictionary.com Unabridged, Random House, Inc. 1 Feb. 2017 (defining "prepay" as "to pay for in advance") (available at http://www.dictionary.com/browse/prepay); Burton's Legal Thesaurus (2nd Ed. 1992) (listing, as synonyms for "prepay", the following: "give compensation for in advance, make payment in advance, ...[and] pay in advance").

Notably, Savage cites no authority to support her argument that the difference in terminology is in any way legally meaningful. Instead, she relies on a California case, *Harris v. Investor's Bus. Daily, Inc.*, 138 Cal. App. 4th 28 (2006), to argue that the CCP does not provide for an advance, but rather a "commission subject to a condition subsequent" that constitutes a "wage." *See* Appellant's Brief, p. 23.

Harris is not helpful to Savage's position. Harris involved a dispute over whether a commission previously paid to an employee was a "wage" that had already been earned or an "advance" on a commission that had not yet been earned. That distinction mattered because California law prohibits employers from taking back "wages" that have been earned but does not prohibit recoupment of an "advance." Just like the Idaho Supreme Court in Bakker, the California court focused on whether the commission had been "earned" under the terms of the commission agreement between the parties. The court explained that, if "a condition to the employee's right to the commission had yet to occur, an advance was not a wage." Id. at 41. However, if the "commission was earned at the time of sale ... the money paid for commissions is wages, not an advance." Id. at 40. The court held that the commission in question was a

"wage" and not an "advance" because, under the terms of the commission agreement, the commission was "earned at the time of the sale, not at some designated point in the future." *Id.* at 41 (emphasis added).

Harris does not help Savage because, unlike the commission agreement in Harris, the CCP expressly provides that no commission is earned until receipt of funds from the customer and that any payment made to an employee before that time is merely a "prepaid but **unearned** commission" (i.e., an advance). See Deleon v. Verizon Wireless, LLC, 207 Cal. App. 4th 800, 803 (2012) (explaining that "Harris is inapposite" where an employee's compensation plan "clearly and expressly stated the retail sale representative's commissions were not earned at the time of sale of the cell phone service plan and referred to commission payments as 'advances'").

Contrary to Savage's vague assertions, this case does not turn on some distinction between an "advance" and a "commission subject to a condition subsequent." In fact, neither *Harris* nor any other case cited by Savage so much as mentions the concept of a condition subsequent. "A condition subsequent is a condition that, if performed or violated, as the case may be, defeats the contract, or one that, if not met by one party, abrogates the other party's obligation to perform." *Lakeland True Value Hardware, LLC v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co.*, 153 Idaho 716, 725, 291 P.3d 399, 408 (2012). "Thus, a contract that is conditioned to become void on a specified event is one subject to a condition subsequent." *Id.*

The CCP does not contain a condition subsequent. Instead, as authorized by *Bakker*, it provides that no commission is earned until actual receipt of payment from a customer. The whole point of *Bakker* (and *Harris* for that matter) is that a commission is not "earned," and thus not a "wage," until any contingency in the parties' commission agreement has been satisfied.

See Bakker, 141 Idaho at 191. Bakker refers to such a contingency as a "condition precedent" to earning a commission, and holds that no wage claim exists until all contractual contingencies to earning a wage have been satisfied. Bakker, 141 Idaho at 192.

6. Savage's "Arithmetically Ascertainable" Theory is Not Supported by Idaho Law

Idaho law does not support Savage's contention that commissions become "wages" due under the Wage Claim Act as soon as they are "arithmetically ascertainable," nor does any case cited by Savage so hold. Rather, the cases cited by Savage reference the question of whether an alleged commission is "ascertainable" as only a preliminary issue in the determination of whether a commission has become earned, not as the deciding factor.

Savage's reliance on *Polk v. Larrabee*, 135 Idaho 303 (2000), is misplaced. *Polk* involved an employment contract that promised an employee a "5% commission on every home sold by the company" and "a 20% share of the profits of the company." *Id.* at 307. Unlike the CCP, the contract in *Polk* did not contain any conditions that had to occur before the employee would be deemed to have earned a commission on the sold houses. When the employer in *Polk* fired the employee and refused to pay commissions at the time of termination despite the houses having been sold, the jury determined that \$18,698 in commissions was due and owing to the employee upon termination. *Id.* After trial, when the employer argued against trebling of the unpaid commissions on the ground that the commission amount was disputed and not "ascertainable" until the jury had determined it, the Court disagreed, reasoning that the jury's verdict was a determination that the commission "was due at the time the Polks terminated their employment." *Id.* at 309. The conclusion in *Polk* that the earned but unpaid commissions were wages did not hinge on the fact that they were ascertainable, nor did the Court hold that any

commission is due and payable as soon as it becomes ascertainable. Instead, the question of whether the commissions were ascertainable was merely a preliminary inquiry to the ultimate question of whether the commissions were due and owing at the time of termination of employment (which question would be answered by the terms of the employee's commission plan). *Id*.

Savage's reliance on *Meschino v. Frazier Indus. Co.*, 2016 WL 4083342 at *4 (D. Mass. Aug. 1, 2016) is similarly unhelpful to her cause. Savage cites *Meschino* for the proposition that commissions are "earned" under the Massachusetts Wage Act when the commission becomes "arithmetically ascertainable." *See* Appellant's Brief, p. 19. But that is not what *Meschino* holds. While *Meschino* explains that a commission must be "mathematically ascertainable" before it can be earned, it makes clear that the ultimate test is whether a commission has been "earned" under the terms of the employment agreement. *Id.* Conveniently omitted from Savage's briefing is the critical holding of the *Meschino* decision: "When a compensation plan specifically sets out the contingencies an employee must meet to earn a commission, courts apply the terms of the plan." *Id.* Thus, to determine whether a wage has been "earned," a court must look to "the plain meaning of the definition of earned commissions set out in the Employment Agreement." *Id.* at *5.

Savage's reliance on *Meschino* is peculiar because its fact pattern and ultimate conclusion so closely mirror and support the District Court's conclusion here. Just like Savage, the employee in *Meschino* asserted that he was entitled to commissions within a certain amount of time after a sale had been "booked." *Id.* The court rejected that argument because the employment agreement did not provide that commissions were earned upon booking of a sale.

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